#### No. 48284-3-II

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION TWO, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHERIE Y. COOK, individually, and CLARK T. COOK, individually and their marital community,

Appellants,

ν.

TACOMA MALL PARTNERSHIP, LLC & SIMON PROPERTY GROUP, INC., a Delaware Corporation, and SIMON PROPERTY GROUP, L.P., a Delaware Limited Partnership; U.S. SECURITY ASSOCIATES, a Delaware Corporation; ANDREWS INTERNATIONAL, LLC; a Delaware Limited Liability Corporation; ANDREWS INTERNATIONAL, INC., a Delaware Corporation; and JOHN DOE 1 through 10,

Respondents.,

#### APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Darrell L. Cochran, WSBA No. 228516 Kevin M. Hastings, WSBA No. 42316 Counsel for Appellants

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Appellant Cherie Cook was brutally assaulted at the Tacoma Mall when she was 77 years old, causing her to sustain life-threatening injuries. Cook filed suit on October 4, 2014, against Simon, the corporation who opened and managed the mall. Cook learned that U.S. Security was the legal entity who contracted with Simon to provide security at the Tacoma Mall after the statute of limitations ran on May 28, 2015. In September 2015, Simon provided Cook with evidence for the first time that U.S. Security had known about the lawsuit within days of it being filed in October 2014, and that it had agreed to indemnify Simon shortly thereafter.

Cook moved to add U.S. Security as a party to a lawsuit, and the trial court allowed the amendment on September 18, 2015. Nevertheless, even though U.S. Security had never before appeared as a defendant in this lawsuit, the trial court ordered on October 2, 2015—without any attorney appearing on behalf of U.S. Security and without any motion regarding discovery from U.S. Security pending—that Cook could not seek *any* discovery from U.S. Security unless it had been issued in the eight days since the amended complaint adding U.S. Security was filed. The trial court prohibited discovery regarding this new defendant on the grounds that Cook had been dilatory in adding U.S. Security as a defendant (despite already having granted leave to amend); Simon, who was allegedly trial-ready, had been prejudiced by the trial court's own decision to continue the trial date for five months; and no additional discovery would change the trial court's

view of the facts of this "simple" case that took "every bit of energy" it had not to dismiss on summary judgment.

The trial court's order closing discovery as to a newly-added party violated the letter and spirit of the civil rules. It also was based on inherently contradictory and unreasonable rationales and had no support under law. Additionally, given the trial court's comments on the record impugning the merits of Cook's case, the trial court here also violated the appearance of fairness doctrine. Recognizing that the trial court lacked "any tenable grounds or bases" for its "combination of decisions," this court ruled that the trial court's order closing discovery constituted both "obvious" and "probable" error and accepted discretionary review under RAP 2.3(b)(1) on grounds that the trial court committed obvious error. Now, Cook respectfully asks this Court to reverse the trial court's order closing discovery and remand the case to a different trial court judge.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

#### Assignments of Error

- No. 1 The trial court erred in closing discovery as to a newly-added party.
- No. 2 The trial court erred in denying Cook's request to issue a new case schedule as to a newly-added party.
- No. 3 The trial court erred in denying reconsideration of its decision to close discovery as to a newly-added party.
- No. 4 The trial court erred in displaying actual or apparent bias on the record.

#### Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

No. 1 Was the trial court's order closing discovery as to a newly-added party based on untenable reasons when it did not follow procedure in hearing a motion to close discovery?

(Assignment of Error Nos. 1, 2, 3)

issuing a new case scheduling order

- No. 2 Was the trial court's order refusal to issue a new case scheduling order with new discovery deadlines untenable and unreasonable?

  (Assignment of Error Nos. 1, 2, 3)
- No. 3 Was the trial court's order closing discovery as to a newly-added party based on untenable reasons when no Washington law gave it such authority?

(Assignment of Error Nos. 1, 2, 3)

No. 4 Was the trial court's order to close discovery as to a newly-added party manifestly unreasonable when discovery had not previously been conducted against the newly added party?

(Assignment of Error Nos. 1, 2, 3)

No. 4 Was the trial court's order to close discovery as to a newly-added party manifestly unreasonable when considering *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 495-96, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997), and its progeny?

(Assignment of Error Nos. 1, 2, 3)

No. 5 Should this court remand the case to a new trial judge given the statements on the record?

(Assignment of Error Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4).

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Background.

On May 28, 2012, Cherie Cook went shopping at the Tacoma Mall.<sup>1</sup> She exited the mall from Nordstrom and was assaulted in the parking lot by an assailant who tried to steal her purse.<sup>2</sup> In the process of being assaulted, Cook fell to the pavement, struck her head, and sustained life threatening injuries.<sup>3</sup>

Shortly before the incident, Tacoma Mall security guard John Waldron was patrolling the parking lot.<sup>4, 5</sup> On his first pass around the mall's parking lot, Waldron saw a slender female, approximately 15 to 16 years of age, sitting on a cement wall outside of Nordstrom.<sup>6</sup> The teenager was wearing a gray wool pea coat and dark pants, even though it was a warm spring day.<sup>7</sup> On his second pass about 20 minutes later, the teenager was sitting in the same spot on her cell phone.<sup>8</sup>

Cook was assaulted about 20 minutes after Waldron made his second pass. 9 At the time of the assault, Waldron was inside the mall and a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> CP at 4. The motion for summary judgment response was sealed over Cook's objection. Simon argued that the policies and procedures met the stringent standards of closing the court record from the public under *Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa*, 97 Wn.2d 30, 640 P.2d 716 (1982), and the trial court agreed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> CP at 4-5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CP at 4-5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CP at 5.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 5}$  The Tacoma Mall only had one security guard to patrol the entire parking lot at any given point.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CP at 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> CP at 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> CP at 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> CP at 5.

different security guard who has not been identified was patrolling.<sup>10</sup> When Cook crashed to the pavement, the assailant took off running.<sup>11</sup> The Tacoma Mall video security system captured the assailant fleeing but did not capture the assault.<sup>12</sup>

According to Tacoma Mall's security policies and procedures, "The most serious security incidents often occur in parking lots and garages." <sup>13</sup> In the five years before the underlying incident, eighteen robberies occurred in the Tacoma Mall's parking lot. <sup>14</sup>

#### B. Procedural History.

On October 8, 2014, Cook filed suit against Simon Property Group, Inc.<sup>15</sup> The complaint also identified John Doe 1 through 10 as entities acting as Simon agents who were responsible for the failure to provide adequate security.<sup>16</sup> Different iterations of the same defendant—Simon (collectively, "Simon")—were named in second and third amended complaints filed on December 12, 2014,<sup>17</sup> and January 20, 2015.<sup>18</sup>

After filing, the trial court's case schedule order set the following dates<sup>19</sup>:

| Discovery cutoff | August 20, 2015 |
|------------------|-----------------|
|------------------|-----------------|

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> CP at 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> CP at 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> CP at 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>.CP at 6.

<sup>14.</sup>CP at 6.

<sup>15</sup> CP at 27-35...

<sup>16</sup> CP at 27-35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> CP at 43-51.

<sup>18</sup> CP at 52-60.

<sup>19</sup> CP at 26.

Trial October 8, 2015

On October 16, 2014, Simon tendered the defense to U.S. Security (f/k/a "Andrews International," collectively, "U.S. Security"), the corporation responsible for providing security at the Tacoma Mall during the relevant time.<sup>20</sup> U.S. Security accepted the claim by November 4, 2014, and agreed to indemnify and hold harmless Simon.<sup>21</sup>

On February 4, 2015, Simon filed its first answer ever in response to Cook's third amended complaint.<sup>22</sup> The answer generally denied the allegations of liability and damages and asserted the following affirmative defenses:

- 1. The injuries alleged by Plaintiffs were caused by an instrumentality, person, or entity not within the control of these Answering Defendants and for whom these Answering Defendants are not responsible, which either bars the claims completely or else diminishes the damages by the proportion of such culpable conduct;
- 2. To the extent fault is attributed to such instrumentality, person, or entity, these Answering Defendants rely upon the provisions of the Revised Code of Washington 4.22.070 and other statutes for the apportionment of fault;<sup>23</sup>

Simon's answer did not mention U.S. Security Associates by name.<sup>24</sup>

On April 3, 2015, Cook served her first interrogatories and requests for production.<sup>25</sup> Interrogatory 7 stated:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> CP at 2070-2071.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> CP at 2086.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> CP at 61-68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> CP at 61-68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> CP at 61-68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> CP at 2106-2121.

Please identify by name, address, and telephone number of all persons or entities (by business name) that provided surveillance, security, or other services related to the safety and security of persons entering Tacoma Mall property at the time of the incent that is the subject of this action.<sup>26</sup>

On May 29, the day after the statute of limitations ran<sup>27</sup>, Simon served its written discovery response identifying U.S. Security for the first time in a pleading under oath as the security provider for the Tacoma Mall at the relevant time, stating:

Defendants object to this interrogatory to the extent that it is overly broad, vague (as to "other services related to safety..."), and unduly burdensome. Without waiving said objections, U.S. Security Associates/Andrews International was under contract with Tacoma Mall to provide security services. Surveillance was performed by Tacoma Mall and by some of the stores that are located in the Tacoma Mall. Discovery is ongoing and this Answer may be supplemented.<sup>28</sup>

Simon did not produce the contract between it and U.S. Security until July 2, 2015.<sup>29</sup>

On July 20, 2015, Cook filed a notice of association of counsel.<sup>30</sup> She brought new counsel into the case because her initial counsel was experiencing personal difficulties.<sup>31</sup>

On July 30, 2015, Cook filed a motion to continue the trial date for six months and to reissue a case scheduling order to extend the deadlines to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> CP at 2112.

 $<sup>^{27}</sup>$  The statute of limitations for personal injury actions such as this one is three years. RCW 4.16.080(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> CP at 2095.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> CP at 1923.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> CP at 100-102.

<sup>31</sup> CP at 452-456.

account for the newly associated counsel.<sup>32</sup>

On August 7, 2015, Simon moved for summary judgment on all claims.<sup>33</sup> On August 21, 2015, the trial court heard Cook's motion to continue.<sup>34</sup> The trial court moved the summary judgment motion but held the trial date.<sup>35</sup>

On September 4, 2015, Simon supplemented their responses to Cook's discovery with insurance information, including evidence that Simon tendered a defense to U.S. Security almost immediately after the original complaint was filed.<sup>36</sup>

On September 10, 2015, Cook moved for leave to amend the complaint by adding U.S. Security as a defendant under *Powers v. W.B. Mobile Servs., Inc.*, 182 Wn.2d 159, 166, 339 P.3d 173 (2014).<sup>37</sup> On September 18, 2015, the trial court granted leave<sup>38</sup> and on September 24, 2015, Cook filed the amended complaint.<sup>39</sup>

On October 2, the trial court denied Simon's motion for summary judgment.<sup>40</sup> After the trial court's ruling, Simon began arguing for reconsideration of the order granting leave to amend the complaint.<sup>41</sup> The trial court denied reconsideration as to its decision allowing the new

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> CP at 106-113.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> CP at 122-140.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> VTP (Vol. I) at 1.

<sup>35</sup> VTP (Vol. I) at 19-20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> CP at 1980.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> CP at 442-451.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> CP at 733-734.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> CP at 784-793.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> CP at 1859-1861.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> VTP (Vol. V) at 36.

defendants, but then it allowed Simon to argue that no further discovery should be permitted as to any defendant, despite the absence of any motion before the trial court asking for such relief.<sup>42</sup>

Cook objected as to the procedure of the argument, objected to closing discovery, and argued to the trial court that it should issue a new case schedule with a new discovery deadline allowing for discovery against U.S. Security as a newly-added defendant.<sup>43</sup> The trial court responded,

To the extent that's a motion that I can hear today, I am going to deny the motion . . . I denied the defendants [sic] motion [for summary judgment], and it took every bit of energy for me to do that. And so I don't know what to tell you beyond that, but I've allowed you to amend your complaint. 44

The trial court acknowledged that "a new party has just come into the case, so it doesn't seem unreasonable to me that they would at least believe they would be entitled to gain some discovery as to the new party," but nonetheless orally ruled that it was prohibiting further discovery unless it was outstanding at the time of the hearing on October 2, 2015, and instructed Cook to move for reconsideration if she disagreed with the decision.<sup>45</sup>

Also at the October 2, 2015, hearing, the trial court struck the October 8 trial date and issued a new case schedule with trial on March 2016.<sup>46</sup> The trial court did not offer a rationale as to why it was denying

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> VTP (Vol. V) at 37, 38-39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> VTP (Vol. V) at 38-39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> VTP (Vol. V) at 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> VTP (Vol. V) at 45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> VTP (Vol. V) at 39-40; CP at 1854-1855.

discovery as to U.S. Security and yet nonetheless moving the trial date by five months.<sup>47</sup>

Cook moved for reconsideration, arguing that she was entitled to discovery from U.S. Security as a newly-added party and that the trial court's complete bar to such discovery was a de facto discovery sanction that was improper under *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 495-96, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997).<sup>48</sup> On October 16, the trial court denied reconsideration.<sup>49</sup> In doing so, it stated,

[T]he problem that I had when I didn't grant the defense motion for summary judgment, whenever that was, two weeks ago, three weeks ago, I mean, it was all I could do to admit that you have even a simple case. So, I guess that's kind of where I'm coming from.

You sort of told me about the <u>Burnet</u> factors and how I didn't consider lesser sanctions, I didn't consider your lack of willfulness and the violation, I didn't articulate that there's any kind of prejudice to the defense, and there is none. Well, you know, it seems to me that I could have granted your motion for summary judgment. I could have denied your amendment. I could have done those things, and that would have been a different sanction than simply declaring that in my view the discovery that has been completed and that closed five weeks ago, or whenever it was when it closed, wasn't subject to being reopened.

It does seem to me that, by all accounts, Don Cook, either the dilatory Don Cook or the heroic Don Cook knew about U.S. Security and has known about them for months, and for whatever reason, opted not to add them. They were added by you later on. It seems to me that he was willful in his decision about how to prosecute his case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> VTP (Vol. V) at 39-49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> CP at 1865-1875.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> CP at 2099-2100.

And the defense has articulated a substantial prejudice. There is a substantial prejudice in being ready for trial and not being able to go to trial at a time when everybody has made arrangements for the trial to take place. You completed all your discovery, you think you know what the case is, and then at the last minute, the judge changes things on you, and I think it is prejudicial to push their case four months downstream. So, I think that when I -- when I did decline, when I have declined to reopen discovery, I'm taking all of those things into account as I'm doing it.

I think that U.S. Security is somebody who's been known about and could have been discovered on. I don't know that any discovery that you obtained from them is going to change the fact that your case is there was some female, either a teen or a young adult, sitting in a particular place using a phone for 20 to 40 minutes in a public area outside the Tacoma Mall that was observed by people sitting and talking on her phone, and she was dressed apparently comfortably enough for her that she was able to sit in one place for an extended period of time. I'm not even convinced that that's the person who is the same person that your security guard saw multiple times, but the two of you seem to be convinced of that, so I am willing to go with it.

But I think that I've been more than generous in allowing this case to be prosecuted the way you want it to be prosecuted, but I'm limiting the discovery at this point in time. It is closed, and I'm not reopening it.<sup>50</sup>

The trial court entered its October 16 order embodying this ruling despite having already moved the trial date to March 2016. Cook timely filed a notice for discretionary review, which was granted.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

A trial court has broad discretion as to the choice of discovery sanctions under CR 26(g) or 37(b), and its determination will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of abuse of discretion. *Burnet*,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> VTP (Vol. IV) at 11-13.

131 Wn.2d 484; Blair v. TA-Seattle E. No. 176, 171 Wn.2d 342, 348, 254 P.3d 797 (2011); Wash. State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp., 122 Wn.2d 299, 355-56, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993); Associated Mortgage Investors v. G.P. Kent Constr. Co., 15 Wn. App. 223, 229, 548 P.2d 558 (1976). The standard of review for a denial of a motion for reconsideration is also abuse of discretion. Kleyer v. Harborview Med. Cntr. of University of Washington, 76 Wn. App. 542, 545, 887 P.2d 468 (1995).

An abuse of discretion occurs when a decision is "manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons." *Associated Mortgage*, 15 Wn. App. at 229. A discretionary decision rests on "untenable grounds" or is based on "untenable reasons" if the trial court relies on unsupported facts or applies the wrong legal standard; the court's decision is "manifestly unreasonable" if "the court, despite applying the correct legal standard to the supported facts, adopts a view 'that no reasonable person would take." *State v. Rohrich*, 149 Wn.2d 647, 654, 71 P.3d 638 (2003) (quoting *State v. Lewis*, 115 Wn.2d 294, 298–99, 797 P.2d 1141 (1990)). Questions of law are reviewed de novo. *In re Firestorm 1991*, 129 Wn.2d 130, 135, 916 P.2d 411 (1996). "A trial court would necessarily abuse its discretion if it based its ruling on an erroneous view of the law." *Fisons*, 122 Wn.2d at 339, 858 P.2d 1054.

## B. The Trial Court's Decision to Close Discovery as to a Newly Added Party Was Based on Untenable Reasons.

Under CR 3, a civil action is commenced by service of a copy of the summons and complaint. Once an action commences, the rules require an

answer, CR 7, that shall state the defenses to each claim asserted and admit or deny the averments contained in the complaint. CR 8(b). The answering party is further entitled to affirmative defenses, CR 8(c), and may move for dispositive relief under CR 12.

The civil rules then allow discovery by (1) depositions, written interrogatories, production of documents or permission to enter upon land for inspection, physical and mental examinations, and requests for admission. CR 26(a). A party "may obtain discovery regarding any matter, not privileged, which is relevant to the subject matter involved in the pending action." CR 26(b)(1).<sup>51</sup>

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