FILED  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION II

2016 AUG 15 AM 11:13

STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 48284-3BY

AP  
DEPUTY

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHERIE Y. COOK, individually, and CLARK T. COOK, individually and  
their marital community,

Appellants,

v.

TACOMA MALL PARTNERSHIP, LLC & SIMON PROPERTY GROUP,  
INC., a Delaware Corporation, and SIMON PROPERTY GROUP, L.P., a  
Delaware Limited Partnership; U.S. SECURITY ASSOCIATES, a  
Delaware Corporation; ANDREWS INTERNATIONAL, LLC; a Delaware  
Limited Liability Corporation; ANDREWS INTERNATIONAL, INC., a  
Delaware Corporation; and JOHN DOE 1 through 10,

Respondents.

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

---

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

And this makes sense as a practical matter. The trial court *should* have broad authority to manage the development of civil litigation. The court is, after all, in the best position to evaluate the needs of the case, the

diligence of counsel, the prejudice flowing from various rulings, and a multiplicity of other real-time considerations. Especially here, where the parties were regularly before the trial court, Judge Sorensen was uniquely familiar with the nuances of the litigation, and in a position to rule accordingly.

The issue, then, framed properly, is:

**Whether** Judge Sorensen manifestly abused his discretion by declining a request to modify the case scheduling order and reopen discovery when: (1) Cook made no showing of good cause or due diligence; (2) Cook failed to articulate any specific factual or investigatory need; and (3) the Mall had already undergone—and complied with—one lengthy period of discovery leading up to trial.

**B. The Trial Court did Not Abuse its Discretion by Denying Further Discovery Related to U.S. Security.**

1. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion When It Found No “Good Cause” To Rewrite The Case Scheduling Order In Response To Cook’s Self-Created Hardship

Cook cannot show any error on the part of the trial court with respect to declining to reopen discovery, let alone, an abuse of discretion. This action was commenced when Cook filed the lawsuit on October 9, 2014, nearly two years ago. Cook filed her Motion for Leave to Amend *less than three weeks* before trial.

It has been said—rightly—that “[a] scheduling order is not a frivolous piece of paper, idly entered, which can be cavalierly disregarded by counsel without peril... Disregard of the order would undermine the court's ability to control its docket, disrupt the agreed-upon course of the litigation, and reward the indolent and the cavalier.” *Johnson v. Mammoth Recreations, Inc.*, 975 F.2d 604 (9th Cir. 1992).

Washington generally adheres to this notion. The cases interpreting good cause have “specifically rejected” self-created hardship as a basis. *State v. Luvene*, 127 Wn.2d 690, 718, 903 P.2d 960, 975 (1995); *see also State v. Mack*, 89 Wn.2d 788, 794, 576 P.2d 44 (1978) (“[s]elf-created hardship is not an excuse for violating mandatory rules”); *State v. Dearbone*, 125 Wn.2d 173, 181, 883 P.2d 303 (1994) (good cause “required an unavoidable and unusual delay which was outside the State’s control.”); *In re Kirby*, 65 Wn. App. 862, 868–69, 829 P.2d 1139 (1992) (same). Some of these cases involve criminal procedure, to be sure. But that context—which involves liberty, not money—if anything, makes the point more compelling in this context. Parties must be able to point to something other than a self-inflicted wound.

Here, Cook did not even step over that hurdle. She had the duration of the lawsuit to comply with the August 20, 2015 discovery cutoff date. And then—contrary to her claim about being denied “sufficient time” to

establish good cause<sup>51</sup>—the trial court indulged her with a special hearing date (October 16, 2015) for that sole purpose; namely, an opportunity to show why discovery should be reopened. This was an appropriate vehicle to determine something explicitly within the trial court’s authority. *See* CR 26(b)(1) (“frequency or extent of use of the discovery methods set forth in section... shall be limited by the court if it determines that... the party seeking discovery has had ample opportunity by discovery in the action to obtain the information sought”).

However, at the hearing, Cook failed to set forth any evidence she could not have discovered before, nor what she hopes to find with additional discovery. Indeed, even now, Cook remains entirely nonspecific about what information, exactly, she was foreclosed from obtaining. Perhaps her most specific claim is that she does not know what “lay and expert witnesses U.S. Security would rely upon at trial.”<sup>52</sup> This late-stage grievance is neither factually, nor legally, tenable. Factually, Cook knew exactly who the witnesses would be from previous witness disclosures and responses to written discovery. By operation of the Local Rules, U.S. Security would not be allowed to show up to trial with a raft of undisclosed witnesses. Legally, as the Washington Supreme Court held over 50 years ago, “it is improper to ask a party to state evidence upon

---

<sup>51</sup> *See* Appellants’ Opening Brief, at pp. 14, 15.

<sup>52</sup> *Id.* at pg. 17.



which he intends to rely to prove any fact or facts.” *Weber v. Biddle*, 72 Wn.2d 22, 29, 431 P.2d 705 (1967).

Cook also laments that “[d]ue to the circumstances, the amendment [of U.S. Security] did not occur until September 24, 2015, or 14 days before trial.”<sup>53</sup> But, in doing so, she conveniently glosses over *why* U.S. Security was not substituted until 14 days before trial. This is because the “circumstances” were that Cook’s counsel undeniably knew about U.S. Security—since the inception of the lawsuit—but decided not to add it as a party (despite three previous amendments of the Complaint).

As the trial court found, Cook knew of U.S. Security early in the case, and made a conscious decision not to name them. Whether this was a strategy failure or something else, it does not operate as a hall pass to ignore existing deadlines, which are relied upon by all parties.

Parenthetically, the Mall would add that it is wholly irrelevant whether new counsel saw something that previous counsel did not. Parties do not get do-overs with the addition of new counsel. The mistakes of the first attorney are, at most, an issue between he and the Cooks. But they do not—and cannot—furnish grounds for good cause:

Petitioner voluntarily chose this attorney as his representative in the action, and he cannot now avoid the consequences of the acts or omissions of this freely

---

<sup>53</sup> Appellants’ Opening Brief, at pg. 16.

selected agent. Any other notion would be wholly inconsistent with our system of representative litigation, in which each party is deemed bound by the acts of his lawyer-agent and is considered to have ‘notice of all facts, notice of which can be charged upon the attorney.’

*Pioneer Inv. Services Co. v. Brunswick Associates Ltd. Partnership*, 507 U.S. 380, 396-97 (1994); *see also U.S. v. 7108 West Grand Ave.*, 15 F.3d 632 (7th Cir. 1994) (gross negligence of attorney redounds to the detriment of the client rather than to an adversary; no right to re-litigate).

The substitution of U.S. Security under CR 10 for a “John Doe,” at the eleventh hour, did not require a new case schedule. Indeed, given the manifest *absence* of good cause, it would have been error and a violation of PCLR 3(d) to revise the case scheduling order. The trial court did not abuse its discretion.

2. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion By Declining Cook’s Proposed Per Se Rule Of Restarting Discovery With Every Late-Stage Substitution

The trial court did not “close” discovery, and no amount of repetition by Cook can change that. Discovery was closed because the case scheduling order set a discovery cutoff date of August 20, 2015. And that date came and went. The issue in this case is whether the trial court was required to *reopen* it.

Cook certainly cites no authority in that regard. “Where no authorities are cited in support of a proposition, the court is not required to

search out authorities, but may assume that counsel, after diligent search, has found none.” *DeHeer v. Seattle Post-Intelligencer*, 60 Wn.2d 122, 126, 372 P.2d 193, 195 (1962). This is not by accident. Courts have been appropriately cautious about binding the trial court’s hands with per se rules and mandates in matters of pretrial case management.

Yet Cook advocates exactly that: a per se rule that, regardless of need or showing, she had an unfettered right to a complete reopening of discovery upon substituting a John Doe late in the case. By this logic, parties could forestall litigations indefinitely. Every time the trial date approaches, they could identify a new party and effectively restart the lawsuit.

A trial court may very well elect to reopen discovery. But it might, as here, have good reasons not to. The appellate court should honor that discretion and permit the trial court freedom to manage the pretrial litigation before it.

3. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion By Declining A Prejudicial Extension Of Discovery

Discovery is costly, stressful, and otherwise burdensome. There has already been an extensive discovery process here. Requiring the parties to undergo a second one, because Cook failed to take full advantage of the first, is unfair on its face. As courts recognize, this is

itself prejudicial. *See Smith v. Behr Process Corp.*, 113 Wn. App. 306, 329, 54 P.3d 665 (2002) (noting that a continuance would be unfair to the opposing party); *Zivkovic v. S. Calif. Edison Co.*, 302 F.3d 1080, 1087 (9th Cir. 2002) (additional discovery and expense as source of prejudice); *Leachman v. Beech Aircraft Corp.*, 694 F.2d 1301, 1309 (D.C. Cir. 1982) (defendants have an interest in repose).

The Mall did everything right. It disclosed U.S. Security and its role early in the case. It disclosed its personnel, in writing, through witness disclosures. It produced over a hundred documents and made personnel available for depositions. And then it utilized the time allotted by the case schedule to conduct its own discovery, retain experts, and be ready to go at the agreed-upon trial date of October 8, 2015—which was upended by Cook’s neglect.

The trial court agreed that the Tacoma Mall should not be further prejudiced. Issuing a new case schedule with a new discovery cutoff would have needlessly increased the cost of litigation and required a significant amount of resources to rewrite its defense, hire new and/or additional experts, and conduct additional discovery. Indeed, *this* would

have been “manifestly unreasonable” and created a substantial *injustice* for the Mall.<sup>54</sup>

Being that Cook is asserting the same cause of action against the Mall and U.S. Security—and given that both will be evaluated under the same standards—Cook will be able to present her case with the discovery previously obtained.

The trial court reasonably exercised its discretion to postpone the trial date (while ensuring compliance with existing discovery), while declining a complete and costly do-over of the entire litigation. This type of evenhanded and thoughtful Order is exactly what one would hope of a trial court. It is plainly not an abuse of discretion.

4. The Court Was Not Required To Analyze The *Burnet* Factors, But Nevertheless Did.

*Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1033 (1997), is a standard governing **discovery sanctions**, not modifications to the case scheduling order. *See, e.g., Jones v. City of Seattle*, 179 Wn.2d 322, 338, 314 P.3d 380 (2013) (“in *Burnet*, th[e] court held that *before imposing one of the harsher remedies allowable under CR 37(b)*, the trial

---

<sup>54</sup> As the trial court recognized, if Cook sought additional discovery from U.S. Security beyond that which had already been obtained, there was absolutely *no good reason* why they could not have done so earlier, especially given that both are represented by the same counsel. CR 30 provides that “any party may take the testimony of any person, including a party, by deposition upon oral examination,” and under CR 45(a)(1)(C), parties can secure seek testimony or documents as well.

court must explicitly consider whether a lesser sanction would probably suffice, whether the violation at issue was willful or deliberate, and whether the violation substantially prejudiced the opponent's ability to prepare for trial.”) (emphasis added) (internal citations omitted).<sup>55</sup>

Here, there is no indication that Judge Sorensen was punishing Cook for discovery noncompliance. Nor was the refusal to reopen discovery a dismissal of Cook’s case; it was not a default judgment; it did not exclude the testimony of witnesses.<sup>56</sup> The issue was whether Cook had demonstrated good cause for relief from an elapsed deadline. And she had not. *Burnet* is, by definition, inapplicable.

Indeed, the enormity (and absurdity) of Cook’s claim to the contrary bears emphasis as well. Trial dates and deadlines are routinely moved and argued about, for any number of reasons, in courts across Washington. The implications of mandating that all trial courts conduct a *Burnet* analysis, every time, are breathtaking—both in terms of substance and judicial economy. Such a sweeping change should come from the

---

<sup>55</sup> See also *Mayer v. Sto Indus., Inc.*, 156 Wn.2d 577, 688, 132 P.3d 115 (2006)) (“the ‘harsher remedies allowable under CR 37(b)’ applies to such remedies as dismissal, default, and the exclusion of testimony”).

<sup>56</sup> In fact, ironically and to the contrary, despite the fact that Cook continuously violated the civil rules and the trial court’s case scheduling order, in the weeks before trial, the trial court utilized its discretion to *permit* Cook to do far more than she ever would have been entitled to do under the existing case scheduling order. She *did* conduct discovery beyond the cutoff, received substantial additional *time to respond* to summary judgment, and her grossly-untimely witnesses’ testimony was considered. See CP at 1802 -1840; VTP (Vol. V) at 17:18-19. Even the amendment itself constituted extreme leniency.

drafters of the Civil Rules or Legislature—both of which are familiar with *Burnet* and, to date, have declined to extend it beyond its existing context. See *Snohomish Cty. v. Anderson*, 123 Wn.2d 151, 156, 868 P.2d 116, 118 (1994) (legislature presumed familiar with existing case law and statutory interpretations).

Leaving that aside, even if *Burnet* were applicable—though, it is not—the trial court’s ruling would be well-within its “broad discretion to fashion remedies.” *Blair v. TA-Seattle E. No. 176*, 171 Wn.2d 342, 348, 254 P.3d 797 (2011). The trial court, at Cook’s request, included an analysis of the *Burnet* factors.<sup>57</sup> This included a specific finding of willfulness, prejudice, and no lesser remedy. While the Mall would submit that the findings are objectively correct, the issue is only whether “any reasonable person” could render them. *Clipse v. Commercial Driver Servs., Inc.*, 189 Wn. App. 776, 787, 358 P.3d 464 (2015). That low standard is easily met.

By any measure, the trial court’s ruling should be affirmed.

---

<sup>57</sup> VTP (Vol. IV) at 11:5 – 13:10.

**C. Cook’s Request for a New Judge Is Beyond the Permissible Scope of Discretionary Review And Is In Any Event Unsupportable**

RAP 2.3(e) mandates that “[u]pon accepting discretionary review, the appellate court may specify the issue or issues as to which review is granted.” Here, the Ruling Granting Review states:

Cherie Cook seeks discretionary review of the trial court’s order denying her motion for reconsideration of the court’s order refusing to reopen discovery. Concluding that Cook demonstrates review is appropriate under RAP 2.3(b)(1), this court grants review.<sup>58</sup>

There is nothing about bias or the need for a new trial court judge who is unfamiliar with this case.

Indeed, this is a point Cook herself makes when preemptively attacking the Mall for “arguing about amendment being improper.”<sup>59</sup> It is true that the Mall disagrees with the trial court’s decision to grant leave to a late-stage fourth amendment. But this is not the forum to have that dispute because, as Cook points out, “it is not an issue that is before the court [and] at this point... it is law of the case.” *Id.* The same reasoning applies to Cook’s last-minute attack on Judge Sorensen. This was not an issue raised before Judge Sorensen. *See* RAP 2.5(a). This was not an issue raised in Cook’s motion for discretionary review. And this was not an

---

<sup>58</sup> Ruling Granting Review, at pg. 1.

<sup>59</sup> Appellants’ Opening Brief, at pg. 20, n. 57.



issue within the Commissioner's Order. It should be disregarded on that basis alone.

Even assuming the question were properly before the Court, Cook presents *no evidence* of “actual or apparent bias”—only conclusory statements and accusation. “Without evidence of actual or potential bias, an appearance of fairness claim cannot succeed and is without merit.” *Santos v. Dean*, 96 Wn. App. 849, 857 (1999) (citing *State v. Post*, 118 Wn.2d 596, 619 (1992) (denying request for new judge where “Post has not shown how the judge at his sentencing hearing was biased.”)).

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